RECEIVED

Mar 26 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE
COMMISSION OF SOUTH CAROLINA

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000933
PSC DOCKET NO. 2024 203 E

Application of Kingstree East 230 LLC for a Certificate of Environmental Compatibility and Public Convenience and Necessity for the Construction and Operation of a 249 MWac Solar Facility in Williamsburg County, South Carolina Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-10 et. seq., and Request to Proceed with Initial Construction Work, S.C. Code Ann. § 58 33-110(7)

Of which,

Dr. Cheryl O. Lane, Appellant,

v.

Kingstree East 230 LLC, Respondent.

APPELLANT’S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

1. Initial (Statutory) Notice.

The first, statutory notice was placed on June 26, 2024 in the *The News (Kingstree)* – a weekly local newspaper in Kingstree, the county seat of Williamsburg County – as well as *The Georgetown Times* (on June 26, 2024) and *The Charleston Post & Courier* (on June 21, 2024) [Matter ID No. 324627].

The notice indicated that on or about July 1, 2024 – which actually took place on July 5, 2024 – Respondent would apply to the PSC for a certificate of environmental compatibility and public convenience and necessity on a project described as “a 249 MW AC solar photovoltaic generating facility with associated facilities, to include a 230kV sub station and a span of 230k line,” to be sited on 4,700 acres of land owned by Ingka Forest Investments, LLC (f/k/a IRI Forest Assets, LLC). [Matter ID No. 324627].

Nothing in the “Notice” indicated that citizens could intervene or oppose it. It merely said that once filed, it would be available for review on “the Commission’s website” or at the PSC’s headquarters [no docket number was included]. [*Id.*]. Any person wishing to comment on the matter could write or email the PSC, along with sending a copy [of the commenter’s email or letter] to Respondent’s counsel (!), with anyone seeking further information being given the PSC’s public number and/or its website. [*Id.*].

2. Respondent as the Sole Party to the Application.

On July 5, 2024, Respondent applied to the S.C. Public Service Commission (“PSC”) for a certificate of “environmental compatibility and public convenience and necessity” [Matter ID No. 324566] to construct a “major utility facility” (as defined by Section 20(2)(b) of the Act and which is governed by the Act’s Section 110). [S.C. Code Ann. §§ 58-33-20(2)(b) and 58-33-110]. Appellant is an intervenor as defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-140(1)(d) and has opposed the PSC’s grant of a certificate of approval as a *pro se* litigant.

The “major utility facility” was ostensibly “a 249 MW AC solar photovoltaic generating facility” with associated facilities, to include a 230kV sub-station and a span of 230k line.” [*Id.*]. As will be discussed more at length below, however, Appellant contends that this is actually a sub-project of a larger project spread over various sites within Williamsburg County.

Furthermore, the PSC immediately notified Respondent by letter of the same day (July 5, 2024) that Respondent had until July 19, 2024 to file its list of witnesses, pre-filed testimony and exhibits under the procedural schedule. [Matter ID No. 324574]. Then, within five days – July 10, 2024 – Respondent was given the hearing date (Thursday, September 12, 2024) when directed to publish the regulatory Notice of Filing and Public Hearing. [Matter ID No. 324662 Notice to Newspapers]. Respondent also received notice that same day that “all other parties of record” and the [Office of Regulatory Staff (“ORS”)] had to comply with a regulatory schedule by submitting a list of witnesses, pre-filed testimony and exhibits by August 15, 2024. [*Id.*, PSC Pre-Filing Deadlines letter of 7.10.24].

3. Non-Timely Publication of Second, Regulatory Notice.

As stated above, Respondent was required to publish a *regulatory* notice – by letter from the PSC Clerk’s office of July 10, 2024. [Matter ID No. 324662]. According to the letter, by July 19, 2024, Respondent had to “[p]ublish at its own expense” the initial ‘Notice of Filing and Public Hearing,’ and to provide “Proof of Publication” by August 9, 2025. [*Id.*]. More importantly, the deadline for Intervention was set for August 9, 2024, with a public hearing set for September 12, 2024 [*Id.*]. The Respondent failed to publish the *second* Notice with a newspaper of record by the July 19, 2024 deadline.

4. Respondent Request to Postpone.

However, six days later, Respondent’s counsel (on July 16, 2024)¹ emailed the PSC and requested that the procedural schedule be modified by pushing the dates back two (2) weeks back; he also requested a scheduling conference. (Matter ID No. 324845). The PSC did not grant Respondent’s request because the next day (July 17, 2024) issued a *revised* Notice of Filing and Public Hearing and revised Pre-File Testimony Deadlines (though attached to the email of [7.17.24], neither are included in the docket on that date).. Respondent was “fine” with these mystery “new” dates. (Matter ID No. 324898).

The PSC also issued a *Notice of Filing and Hearing and Prefile Testimony Deadlines* [7.18.24] which said that “all other parties of record” and the [Office of Regulatory Staff (“ORS”)] had to submit their list of witnesses, pre-filed testimony and exhibits by September 5, 2024. (Matter ID No. 324908).

The PSC promulgated its *revised* Notice of Filing and Public Hearing on July 18, 2024. [Matter ID No. 324908]. The revised Notice has the *same* deadline for intervenors to intervene (August 9, 2024) and the *same* public hearing date (September 12, 2024),

¹ Three days before the deadline to publish the first Notice of Filing and Public Hearing.

but no PSC transmittal letter was filed. [*Id.*; compare to transmittal letter in Matter ID No. 324662].

An Affidavit of Service from *The News*, however, shows the publication going out past the 7.19.24 deadline on July 24, 2024 with both the original and revised Notices. [Matter ID No. 325206]. Also, *The Georgetown Times* and *The Charleston Post & Courier* published the revised Notice on July 24, 2024. [Matter ID No. 325212].

5. Before She Can Even Intervene, Appellant Has No Time.

Thus, by means of this stunt, the Appellant had only fifteen (15) days – from the publication of Notice on July 24, 2024 until the deadline to intervene August 9, 2024 – to become an Intervenor. She filed a petition for intervention on August 8, 2024. [Matter ID No. 325504]. A PSC hearing officer slow-walked the Petition – granting it only after fifteen (15) days later on August 23, 2024 despite not noting any objection. [Matter ID No. 325784]. Based on the Revised Pre-File Testimony Deadlines from July 18, 2024, the Appellant only had thirteen (13) days to submit her list of witnesses, pre-filed testimony and exhibits by September 5, 2024. [Matter ID No. 324908]. This is outrageous.

6. The Appellant Was Then Ignored.

Notwithstanding that she was denied time, the PSC also ignored her. For instance, on October 21, 2024, she requested a status conference “so that clarification can be provided on the remaining dates and possible submissions needed.” [Matter ID No. 326920]. [Matter ID No. 327502, Email #2]. She asked a second time a month later on November 21 and also asked some procedural questions. [Matter ID No. 327509]. Appellant had received notice that the Status Conference was set for December 2 [Matter ID No. 327508]; but when the Clerk wrote back on November 26 to say that the status conference was cancelled because “these are questions can and will be addressed in writing by a separate responsive email.” [Matter ID No. 327502, Email #2]. In fact, her

questions were never answered, apparently ‘lost’ in the Thanksgiving 2024 shuffle.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the PSC err when it violated the Appellant’s substantive due process rights by **not** giving her sufficient time to marshal her witnesses and exhibits?
2. Did the PSC err by not requiring the Respondent to provide credible information demonstrating that the facility to be built has been compared to other generation options in terms of cost and reliability, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-110(8)(a)?
3. Did the PSC err by allowing this Solar Project to be assembled “piece and parcel”?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from the Public Service Commission, appellate review is governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380. *See, Duke Energy Carolinas, L.L.C. v. S.C. Off. of Regul. Staff*, 434 S.C. 392, 406, 864 S.E.2d 873, 880 (2021). “Pursuant to that statute, the Court may not substitute its judgment for an agency's judgment as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact.” *Id.* (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)). Rather, the Court may only reverse or modify a decision of the PSC “when the findings or conclusions are affected by an error of law, clearly erroneous, or arbitrary and capricious.” *Id.* (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d)–(f)). The Court must view the PSC's findings on appeal as “presumptively correct.” *S.C. Energy Users Comm. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 388 S.C. 486, 491, 697 S.E.2d 587, 590 (2010).

Thus, “the party challenging the [PSC's] order bears the burden of convincingly proving the decision is clearly erroneous, or arbitrary or capricious, or an abuse of discretion, in view of the substantial evidence of the record as a whole.” *Id.* “Substantial evidence” is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached or must have reached in order to justify its action. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). Substantial evidence is something less than the weight of the

evidence and the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence. *Ellis v. Spartan Mills*, 276 S.C. 216, 277 S.E.2d 590 (1981). A judgment upon which reasonable men might differ “will not be set aside.” *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.E.2d at 307.

I. The PSC Violated Appellant’s Substantial Due Process.

The first and most clearly erroneous decision of the PSC was to allow the hearing to proceed despite limiting Appellant fair time -- just thirteen (13) days – either to present her case in any meaningful way or protect her appellate rights.

The South Carolina Utility Facility and Environmental Protection Act (“Siting Act”) is found at S.C. Code § 58-33-10 *et seq.* and decisions under it Siting Act for the approval of major public utilities are supposed to be decided by the Commission, Still, the PSC and the Appellant had to “work” the system to deny any Intervenors the opportunity to be heard as parties. S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-285.

The United States Supreme Court has held that “[a]ny party in an administrative agency proceeding is entitled to certain procedural opportunities of notice and a fair hearing; which are the identical rules in South Carolina. *See Morgan v. United States*, 304 U.S. 1, 58 S.Ct. 773, 82 L.Ed. 1129 (1938); *Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. S.C. Public Service Commission*. 282 S.C. 430, 435, 319 S.E.2d 696, 698 (1984).

Here, Appellant can easily prove that she was denied due process, because she was from the get-go completely railroaded by the Commission and the Respondent. A review of the salient facts shows this:

- Per the revised *Notice of Filing and Hearing and Prefile Testimony Deadlines*

[7.18.24], “all other parties of record” and the [Office of Regulatory Staff (“ORS”)] had to submit their list of witnesses, pre-filed testimony and exhibits by September 5, 2024. (Matter ID No. 324908).

- Despite being a revised Notice, it still had the same deadline for intervenors to intervene (August 9, 2024) and the *same* public hearing date (September 12, 2024).
- The PSC published no transmittal letter and allowed Respondent to publish the “revised” notice was served six (6) days late, on July 25, rather than the day after it was issued July 19, 2025 (Matter ID No. 325206 & 325212).
- Because the PSC only granted her Petition to Intervene on August 23, 2024 (Matter ID No. 325784), this meant Appellant had only thirteen (13) days to submit her list of witnesses, pre-filed testimony and exhibits by September 5, 2024. (Matter ID No. 324908).

Thirteen (13) days is – on its face – insufficient time for Appellant, a pro se Intervenor, to accomplish these tasks! She could never marshal her witnesses, submit testimony or exhibits within that little amount of time. “Reasonable minds” on the Commission could not have expected her to do so.

Here, the required showing of “substantial prejudice” can easily be demonstrated because the Commission and Respondent took great delight in pointing out to the Appellant over and over that she had not met her burden of proof – because she had not filed her witness statements, testimony or exhibits. [Feb 20 Order No 2025-24, pp. 5, 14, 20, 25].

Nowhere in the South Carolina Siting Act [S.C. Code § 58-33-10 *et seq.*] does it mandate or require that the Commission establish such an abbreviated time. Nothing about the Project necessitates the Commission adopt such an unconstitutional and arbitrary period of time either, but this is exactly what happened.

A review of the record discloses that there is no evidence which could **reasonably support** any finding by the PSC or Respondent as to the fairness of limiting the deadline for intervenors to submit witnesses and exhibits. *Cf. Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of*

Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 85, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976) (“a review of the record discloses that there is no evidence which reasonably supports the jury's findings”); *In re Chapman*, 419 S.C. 172, 796 S.E.2d 843 (2017). In fact, the PSC abused its discretion in cutting off the Appellant’s ability to put together witnesses and exhibits. *Cf. Winkler v. State*, 418 S.C. 643, 795 S.E.2d 686 (2016) (finding that PCR trial court abused discretion in denying additional time to analyze MRI and PET scans).

“In order to prove a denial of substantive due process, a party must show that he was arbitrarily and capriciously deprived of a cognizable property interest rooted in state law.” *Dunes W. Golf Club, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 401 S.C. 280, 296, 737 S.E.2d 601, 609 (2013). The fundamental requirements of due process include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review. S.C. Const. art. 1, § 22; *Stono River Env'tl. Protection Ass'n v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env'tl. Control*, 305 S.C. 90, 94, 406 S.E.2d 340, 342 (1991). Due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands. *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Sens. v. Wilson*, 352 S.C. 445, 452, 574 S.E.2d 730, 733 (2002). Furthermore, proof of a denial of due process requires a showing of substantial prejudice. *Palmetto Alliance, Inc.*, 282 S.C. at 435, 319 S.E.2d at 698.

Here, Dr. Lane had a due process right to function as an Intervenor, which is rooted in State law. In spite of this, she was denied her due process right to fairly prosecute her case because she was denied time to file her witness statements and exhibits. The only explanation is that the Respondent wanted its solar farm to be approved without objection, and, for whatever reason, the PSC was happy to knee-cap Appellant.

Appellant could not raise this issue to the PSC because it was already decided **before** she ever intervened. [Matter ID No. 324908]. As stated above, the PSC ignored

every request for information. submissions needed. [Matter ID No. 326920; 327502, Email #2]. 327509; 327508]; when the Clerk wrote back to Appellant on November 26 to say that a status conference was cancelled because “these are questions that can and will be addressed in writing by a separate responsive email.” [Matter ID No. 327502, Email #2]. In fact, her questions were never answered, apparently ‘lost’ in the Thanksgiving 2024 shuffle. To a *pro se* Intervenor, this is a clear signal that the PSC is not changing_or going to change anything.

Appellant never got – or could ever get – a fair hearing with sufficient time given to marshal her witnesses and evidence. A *pro se* litigant who knowingly elects to represent himself assumes full responsibility for complying with substantive and procedural requirements of the law. *State v. Burton*, 356 S.C. 259, 265 n.5, 589 S.E.2d 6, 9, n.5 (2003). But a *pro se* litigant participating in a civil or administrative action or defense may be sanctioned for filing a frivolous pleading, motion, or document. *Ex parte Gregory*, 378 S.C. 430, 437, 663 S.E.2d 46, 50 (2008). The PSC ignored Appellant’s multiple pretrial motions and requests; the Respondent and Commission worked together to make sure she was not able to do anything and did nothing to stop their train. This is not right.

II. The PSC Did Not Require Respondent to Compare ‘Cost & Reliability.’

As set forth herein, *infra*, the South Carolina Utility Facility and Environmental Protection Act (“Siting Act”) [S.C. Code § 58-33-10 *et seq.*] is the principle statutory scheme which governs this Appeal. In seeking a certificate under the Act for a “Major Utility Facility” [as defined in S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-20(2)]:

“the applicant **must** provide credible information demonstrating that the facility to be built has been compared to other generation options in terms of cost, reliability, schedule restraints, fuel cost and availability, transmission constraint and costs, ancillary service capabilities, current and

reasonably expected future environmental costs and restrictions, and the facility support systems and efficiency reliability in light of those considerations and any other regulatory implications deemed legally or reasonably necessary for consideration by the commission. (emphasis added).”

S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-110(8)(a). This is commonly known as “cost & reliability.” While the Office of Regulatory Counsel **may** provide the PSC with independent evaluations or assessments [Act Section 110(8)(b)], the showing to be provided by the applicant cannot be ignored before the PSC; it must make this showing. § 58-33-110(8)(a). "The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the legislature." *Sloan v. Hardee*, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007). *See also Thompson v. Killian*, Appellate Case No. 2023-000442 at * 28305 (S.C. Nov 05, 2025) ("In South Carolina, the guiding principle of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the legislature's intent"). Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature." *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000).” “What a legislature says the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will." *Id.* at 88, 581. "When a statute's terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction, and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning." *Id.* "Words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation." *Id.* at 499, 640 S.E.2d at 459. "Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute." *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000).

Here the General Assembly clearly provided that the **applicant** (i.e., the Respondent) must provide credible information” as to cost and reliability. In this case,

“cost” means the cost to the customer because Respondent says that they are the private company building a solar project. “Reliability” equals reliable service of energy to the customer.

Thus, under the Siting Act, a sufficient response addressing cost and reliability for a major utility scale electric power project must demonstrate, with supporting evidence, that the proposed facility is more cost-effective and maintains or improves reliability compared to other feasibly available long term power supply alternatives, and that its construction is in the public interest.

For cost requirements, the following represent the kinds of findings which the Respondent had a duty to present, and the PSC had a duty to include in its findings of fact if they were shown by the Respondent:

- The Public Service Commission (PSC) requires a detailed estimate of construction and operational costs, including future operating expenses.
- The project must be shown, by a preponderance of the evidence, to be the most cost effective solution versus alternatives such as power purchase agreements, market purchases, competitive procurement, regional transmission organization participation, or advanced energy technologies.
- The PSC assesses whether the facility provides less ratepayer risk than other available options and is consistent with the utility’s approved expansion plans.

Similarly, for reliability requirements, the Respondent could have proven to the PSC’s satisfaction that;

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