**RECEIVED**

**Apr 24 2026**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION  
OF SOUTH CAROLINA

---

Appellate Case No.  
2025-000933

Application of Kingtree East 230 LLC for a Certificate of Environmental Compatibility and Public Convenience and Necessity for the Construction and Operation of a 249 MWac Solar Facility in Williamsburg County, South Carolina Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-10 *et. seq.*, and Request to Proceed with Initial Construction Work, S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-110(7)

Dr. Cheryl O. Lane, Appellant,

v.

Kingtree East 230 LLC, Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT KINGSTREE

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

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE COMMISSION’S PREFILED TESTIMONY REQUIREMENTS AND DEADLINES, WHICH LANE NEVER CONTESTED, DID NOT VIOLATE HER DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.**

Lane argues that the Commission prefiled testimony requirements violated her due process rights, but the record shows otherwise. To the contrary, the Commission went to

extraordinary lengths to afford Lane due process, and she cannot demonstrate the “substantial prejudice” required to establish a due process claim. *Palmetto Alliance., Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Com.*, 282 S.C. 430, 435, 319 S.E.2d 695, 698 (1984).

To the extent that Lane claims a violation of *substantive* due process, she has failed to show that she has been “deprived of life, liberty, or property for arbitrary reasons.” *Seabrook v. Knox*, 369 S.C. 191, 198, 631 S.E.2d 907, 911 (2006). To support her claim, Lane must show that she “possessed a constitutionally protected property interest that was deprived by state action so far beyond the limits of legitimate governmental action, no process could cure the deficiency.” *Id.* “The standard for reviewing all substantive due process challenges to state statutes or municipal ordinances, including economic and social welfare legislation, is whether the ordinance bears a reasonable relationship to any legitimate interest of government.” *Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 359 S.C. 85, 96, 596 S.E.2d 917, 923 (2004).

Lane has failed to identify her “life, liberty, or property” interest in these proceedings, let alone show one has been denied. Nor does she identify a specific statute or regulation that has substantially prejudiced her protected interest. Additionally, she has not argued that the Siting Act’s provisions or the Commission’s prefiling requirements are not reasonably related to legitimate state interests. *Id.* She therefore has not met the burden of showing that she has suffered substantial prejudice as a result of a statute or the Commission’s regulations. *Palmetto Alliance., Inc., supra.*

Lane is also unable to demonstrate that her right to *procedural* due process was violated. App. Initial Brief, p. 13. “The fundamental requirements of due process include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review.” *Kurschner v. City of Camden*

*Planning Comm'n*, 376 S.C. 165, 171, 656 S.E.2d 346, 350 (2008). “[D]ue process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands.” *Id.*

The conduct of proceedings before the Commission, including deadlines and discovery, are left to the discretion of the Commission. In *Palmetto Alliance*, the Court said:

It is well-settled that ‘the scope and conduct of discovery are within the sound discretion of the trial court ..., and that after final judgment of the district court or final agency order, [the Court's] review is confined to determining if that discretion has been abused....’ *Marroquin-Manriquez v. I.N.S.*, 699 F.2d 129 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 1983). Based upon the record herein, this Court finds no abuse of the Commission's discretion in the conduct of prehearing discovery.

*Palmetto Alliance*, 282 S.C. at 436, 319 S.E. 2d at 698.

The Commission’s conduct in setting procedural deadlines is similarly left to its discretion.

The statute and regulations governing Commission hearings are clear regarding the requirement to prefile evidence and testimony. S.C. Code Ann. § 58-3-140(D) states in pertinent part:

The commission must promulgate regulations to require the direct testimony of witnesses appearing on behalf of utilities and of witnesses appearing on behalf of persons having formal intervenor status, **such testimony to be reduced to writing and prefiled with the commission in advance of any hearing.**<sup>5</sup>

And S.C. Code Ann. Regs 103-845.C states:

Prepared Statements and Exhibits. **Copies of witness testimony and exhibits shall be prefiled with the Commission as prescribed.** A witness may read into the record, as his or her direct testimony, statements of fact or expressions of his or her opinion prepared by him or her, or written answers to interrogatories of counsel. A prepared statement of a witness may also be received as an exhibit. All parties of record, insofar as it is practicable, should prefile with all other parties of record

---

<sup>5</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 58-3-140(D)(emphasis added) *n.b.* this subsection was amended by Act 41 of 2025, but the quoted language remains unchanged. Act No. 41, 2025 S.C. Acts 197.

copies of prepared testimony and exhibits that the party of record proposes to use during a hearing. In proceedings involving utilities, the Commission shall require any party and the Office of Regulatory Staff to file copies of testimony and exhibits and serve them on all other parties of record within a specified time in advance of the hearing. (emphasis added).

The Commission also afforded Lane ample opportunity to be heard. In this case, Lane received notice of the Application, relevant deadlines, and the hearing. (R. ) The Revised Notice of Filing and Hearing issued by the Clerk on July 18<sup>th</sup>, 2026, fully complied with the requirements of the Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-320(A),(B), and notified her of the deadline for intervention. The Revised Notice of Prefile Testimony Deadlines also alerted her to the deadline to prefile her testimony. Lane could have prefiled testimony but did not do so. She cannot now object to situations she has brought upon herself. *Palmetto Alliance*, 282 S.C. at 439 (“Palmetto failed to present such evidence when allowed the opportunity by the Commission”).

Lane also participated in the hearing and cross-examined witnesses. She filed a proposed order, a post-hearing memorandum, and a motion for rehearing. (“The Commission ... permitted Palmetto the opportunity to contest the validity of PMPA's rebuttal evidence by way of a brief or proposed findings and conclusions”). *Id.* Lane was afforded the same opportunity to participate in the Commission’s proceedings as any other party, and there was no abuse of discretion on the part of the Commission.

Disingenuously, Lane claims her due process rights were violated because she was not given sufficient time to prepare her prefiled testimony and exhibits. App. Brief at 14. Specifically, Lane claims she only had thirteen days to prepare her case between the date she was granted intervention, August 23<sup>rd</sup>, 2024, and September 5<sup>th</sup>, 2024, the deadline to file her prefiled testimony. That is not the case.

As early as June 21<sup>st</sup>. 2024, Kingstree East published notice that it would file this application as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-120(3). (R. ) The final (revised) timelines were established by the Commission on July 18<sup>th</sup>, 2024. On that day the Clerk also issued the Revised Notice of Prefiling Deadlines, which was posted to the Commission’s online Docket Management System. (R. ) The Revised Notice of Prefile Testimony established Kingstree East’s deadline to file direct testimony as August 9<sup>th</sup>, 2024, and the deadline for Intervenors such as Lane to file direct testimony as September 5<sup>th</sup>, 2024. ( R. ) As Lane acknowledges in her Initial Brief at 13-14, the prefiling deadlines were revised at the parties’ request to allow additional time for all parties to prepare and prefile testimony.<sup>6</sup>

The Commission’s Revised Notice of Filing and Public Hearing was published as early as July 24<sup>th</sup>, 2024, 43 days before Respondent’s prefiled testimony deadline.<sup>7</sup> (R. ) Lane also had access to Respondent’s prefiled Direct Testimony on this matter on August 9<sup>th</sup>, 2024, the day she moved to intervene, 27 days before her testimony would be due. She had ample notice of this application, and she did not have to wait for the Commission to grant her petition to intervene to begin preparing her case.

Lane was on notice of these deadlines when she filed her Petition to Intervene on August 9<sup>th</sup>, 2024. The Clerk’s Notice of Revised Prefiled Testimony Deadlines of July 18<sup>th</sup>, 2024, contained stern warnings about the prefiling deadlines. It states:

---

<sup>6</sup> “These changes to the procedural schedule are intended to allow all interested parties more time to review the application, conduct discovery, accommodate witnesses’ schedules, and better inform the Commission with their testimony.” Terreni Ltr. to PSC, July 16<sup>th</sup>, 2024 (R. \_\_\_),

<sup>7</sup> Appellant claims the publication of this *revised* notice was untimely because it did not meet the Commission’s July 19<sup>th</sup>, 2024, deadline for the *initial* notice. App. Initial Brief, at p. 9. The Commission did not provide a deadline for publishing the revised notice, but it was published within six days after the day it was issued on July 18<sup>th</sup>, 2024. In any event, the issue is not timely raised.

**NOTE:** Failure to comply with the instructions contained herein could result in your proposed Witnesses' testimony and exhibits being excluded in the subject proceeding. Additionally, please note failure to comply with the above on or before the dates indicated may result in the **DISMISSAL** of your pleading.

(R. \_\_\_\_ ) (emphasis in original)

Lane could also have requested additional time to "...marshal her witnesses, submit testimony or exhibits" (App. Brief at 14) but she never did. "One cannot complain of a due process violation if he has recourse to a constitutionally sufficient administrative procedure but merely declines or fails to take advantage of it." *Zaman v. S.C. State Bd. of Medical Examiners*, 408 S.E.2d 213, 215, 305 S.C. 281, 285 (1991).

In an apparent attempt to justify her failure to prefile testimony, Lane claims that "[t]he PSC ignored Appellant's multiple pretrial motions and requests..." App. Initial Brief, p. 16. In fact, Lane never filed any motions and made no requests for an extension or change to the prefiling schedule. She also attended the procedural hearing on September 12<sup>th</sup>, 2024, but did not raise any concerns about the Commission's prefiling deadlines. Tr. p. 5:2-5.

Lane sent only one e-mail to the Commission before the October 8<sup>th</sup>, 2024, evidentiary hearing—on September 17<sup>th</sup>, 2024. E-mail—Lane to Wessinger Hill, Sept. 17<sup>th</sup>, 2024 (326384) (R. \_\_\_\_ ). That e-mail was sent twelve days *after* Lane's prefiling deadline. In the e-mail she merely said: "Good Afternoon, Ms. Hill. I am checking in to see if you have a possible group meeting date to talk about deadlines, etc." *Id.* After learning of the parties' availability, the Commission's General Counsel scheduled a virtual status conference which was held on September 25<sup>th</sup>, 2024, at 2:30 p.m. E-Mail—PSC to Lane, September 24<sup>th</sup>, 2024 (326515) (R. \_\_\_\_ ).

Lane then attended the evidentiary hearing on October 8<sup>th</sup>, 2024, but did not complain of the prefiling testimony schedule or the Commission's regulations. Tr. p. 5:1-5 (R. \_\_\_\_ ). Instead,

she tried to introduce exhibits in violation of the statutes and the Commission’s regulations. Tr. p. 232.1:1:16 (R. ).

Lane’s subsequent e-mails requesting a status conference were sent *after* the October 8<sup>th</sup>, 2024, hearing and they did not involve prefiled testimony deadlines either. On October 21<sup>st</sup>, 2024, Lane e-mailed the Commission requesting a status conference “...so that clarification can be provided on the remaining dates and possible submissions needed.” E-Mail—Lane to PSC, October 21<sup>st</sup>, 2024 (326920) (R. ). At that point, the only remaining deadlines and possible submissions would have been for proposed orders or post-hearing briefs; the opportunity for Lane to introduce evidence had long since passed.

Lane renewed her request for a status conference in e-mails on November 18<sup>th</sup>, 2024, and offered, as an alternative, to send written questions to the Commission. E-Mail 1—Lane to PSC, Nov. 18<sup>th</sup>, 2024 (327502) (R. ) She reiterated her request for a status conference by e-mail on November 20<sup>th</sup>, 2024. E-Mail 2—Lane to PSC, Nov. 20<sup>th</sup>, 2024 (327502).(R. ) On November 25<sup>th</sup>, 2024, Lane e-mailed her questions to the Commission. E-Mail—Lane to PSC, Nov. 25<sup>th</sup>, 2024 (327596) (R. ).

In her email of November 25<sup>th</sup>, 2024, Lane explicitly stated: “I am okay with someone responding via e-mail from the SCPSC with the answers to these procedural questions.” *Id.* The Commission’s Chief Counsel replied that Lane’s questions could be addressed by e-mail, and a status conference would not be needed. E-Mail—Wessinger Hill to Lane, Nov. 26<sup>th</sup>, 2024 (327609) (R. ). Lane’s questions involved the Commission’s *Pro Se* Litigant Guide, the deadline and procedure for delivering proposed orders, and whether a hard copy was required. *Id.* These are the questions that Lane complains were “apparently ‘lost’ in the Thanksgiving 2024 shuffle.” App. Brief p. 16. The questions have nothing to do with the prefiled testimony

deadlines and therefore have absolutely no bearing on Lane’s due process arguments. In any event, Lane suffered no prejudice if her questions went unanswered, as the record shows that she filed a proposed order on December 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2024, which was accepted by the Commission. Lane Prop. Order, Dec. 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2024 (327643)(R. ).

Lane cites her *pro se* status in her defense; however, as she admits, South Carolina requires *pro se* litigants to adhere to the same standards as attorneys. *State v. Burton*, 356 S.C. 259, 265 n.5, 589 S.E.2d 6, 9 n.5 (2003) (“A *pro se* litigant who knowingly elects to represent himself assumes full responsibility for complying with substantive and procedural requirements of the law.”). In *Burton*, a case cited by the Lane, the Court found that a *pro se* litigant could not appeal his criminal conviction on the basis of evidence resulting from an illegal search and seizure because he failed to object to its admission at trial. The Court explained: “[t]he search and seizure of Burton was illegal and we look with disapproval on the officers' conduct leading up to the seizure. However, Burton's argument was not properly preserved as to any of the counts.” *Id.* The same principle applies in this case.

Lane’s claim that she “...could not raise the pre-filing issue to the PSC because it was already decided before she ever intervened” is disingenuous. App. Brief at 15. She could have requested a change in the schedule, but did not, despite having many opportunities to do so. Lane cannot raise a claim of a violation of due process based on her own ignorance of the law, her disregard of the instructions of the Clerk, and her own failure to exercise available remedies.

**II. APPELLANT IS BARRED FROM CHALLENGING THE COMMISSION’S FINDINGS ON THE PROJECT’S COST AND RELIABILITY AS SHE RAISED THIS ARGUMENT FOR THE FIRST TIME IN HER PETITION FOR REHEARING. THE COMMISSION’S FINDINGS ARE ALSO SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.**

Lane challenges the sufficiency of the Commission’s findings on the project’s cost and reliability under S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-110(8)(a). However, she is procedurally barred from

making this argument as she raised it for the first time in her Petition for Rehearing. A party cannot raise issues in a motion to reconsider that could have been presented prior to the decision on the merits or that are raised for the first time in a petition for rehearing. *See Kiawah Prop. Owners Group v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 359 S.C. 105, 113, 597 S.E.2d 145, 149 (2004) (“Since KPOG first broached the transfer line issue in its petition for rehearing to the PSC, the issue is not preserved.”)

The transcript of the hearing shows that Lane did not offer any evidence or cross examine any witness on the cost and reliability requirement and did not raise it in her Proposed Order. App. Proposed Order, Dec. 2, 2024 (R. ). The first time Lane raised this claim was in her Petition for Rehearing and she only did so in a cursory fashion. Pet. for Rehearing at p. 4 (R. ). The argument was untimely. In any case, there is ample evidence in the record to support the Commission’s finding that the project was compared to other generation options for cost and reliability.

At the time of the hearing S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-110(8)(a) stated in pertinent part:

[A] person may not commence construction of a major utility facility for generation in the State of South Carolina without first having made a demonstration that the facility to be built has been compared to other generation options in terms of cost, reliability, and any other regulatory implications deemed legally or reasonably necessary for consideration by the commission.

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